RECEIVED

Mar 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERBIAS JERROD GOFF,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000112

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred when it denied Appellant's request for a continuance and tried Appellant *in absentia* where Appellant did not have actual notice of the trial date and therefore could not voluntarily waive his right to be present?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 17, 2020, Appellant was indicted by the Horry County grand jury for one count of failure to register as a sex offender, second offense. R. (Indictment). The State, represented by Crystal Andrews and Mary-Ellen Walter, called the case to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury on August 12, 2020. Appellant was represented by James Galmore. R. 1.

Prior to selecting a jury, the State informed the trial court that Appellant could not be found and moved to try Appellant *in absentia*. Counsel Galmore objected to proceeding with trial *in absentia* and requested a continuance. R. 5. Judge Culbertson ultimately granted the State's request, and Appellant was tried in his absence. R. 39-41. The jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 133, l. 2-6. Appellant's sentence was sealed, and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest. On January 26, 2022, Appellant was brought before Judge Culbertson to have his sentence unsealed. R. 90. Appellant was sentenced to 366 days imprisonment with credit for time served. R. 93-94

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 454, 692 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2010). “An appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it denied Appellant's request for a continuance and tried Appellant *in absentia* where Appellant did not have actual notice of the trial date and therefore could not voluntarily waive his right to be present.

Relevant Facts

On May 23, 2016, Appellant pled guilty to one count of criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. He was sentenced to 343 days' time served and required to register as a sex offender. R. 98. In 2019, Appellant was charged with failure to register as a sex offender, first offense. He again pled guilty and was sentenced to time served. R. 111. On October 23, 2019, approximately a month after pleading guilty to failure to register, first offense, Appellant was charged with failure to register as a sex offender, second offense. R. 96. Appellant was indicted for one count of failure to register as a sex offender, second offense, during the June 2020 term of the Horry County grand jury. R. 94

On August 12, 2020, the State called the case to trial. R. 1. Prior to selecting a jury, the State informed the trial court that Appellant could not be found and that it wished to present evidence to proceed with his trial *in absentia*. R. 5, ll. 2-5. Counsel Galmore requested the case be continued, arguing that Appellant had not received notice of the trial date. R. 5, ll. 8-16. The State proceeded to call four witnesses to testify regarding the attempted service of notice of the trial date on Appellant.

Magdalena Salemno testified that she was employed as an assistant to two prosecutors at the Horry County Solicitor's office. R. 6, ll. 7-17. Salemno prepared a subpoena on July 22,

2020,¹ summoning Appellant to appear at the Horry County Judicial Building for the August 10-August 14, 2020, General Sessions term. R. 99. The subpoena was sent by standard U.S. Mail to the address that Appellant had provided on his bond form, public defender application, and a change of address form. R. 9, ll. 5-21; R. 10, ll. 15-18. The subpoena was returned to the Solicitor's office on August 1, 2020, with a notation that it was "not deliverable as addressed"² unable to forward." R. 11, ll. 23-R. 12, l. 6; R. 13, ll. 10-18; R. 100. Salemno also prepared a second subpoena on August 3, 2020, summoning Appellant to the Horry County Judicial Building on August 6, 2020. R. 102. Salemno testified that a sheriff's deputy attempted to personally serve the August 6 subpoena on Appellant, but it was returned to the Solicitor's office with an affidavit of non-service. R. 12, ll. 8-23; R. 104.

Senior Assistant Solicitor Mary-Ellen Walter testified that the August 2020 trial roster, which listed Appellant's case as ready for trial, was published by the Solicitor's Office on July 22, 2020. R. 15, ll. 2-7. A meeting on the trial roster was held on August 3, 2020, at which point Counsel Galmore indicated he believed Appellant would plead guilty to the charge. The circuit court directed the State to subpoena Appellant to come to court on August 6, 2020, to enter a guilty plea. R. 15, ll. 15-24.

Deputy Bobby Strickland testified that he was given a subpoena on August 3, 2020, to serve on Appellant. Deputy Strickland was familiar with Appellant and would know him on

¹Salemno testified she sent the subpoena out on July 22, 2020, but the postmark on the envelope of State's Exhibit 1 indicates the subpoena was placed in the U.S. Mail on July 27, 2020. R. 11, ll. 20-22.

² Appellant requests this Court take judicial notice pursuant to SCRE, Rule 201, of the definition of "not deliverable as addressed." According to the United States Postal Service Office of the Inspector General's website, "not deliverable as addressed" is defined as mail that did not reach its intended recipient because the address was incorrect, incomplete, or illegible. See <https://www.uspsaig.gov/blog/undeliverable-addressed-costs-more-you-think>

sight. R. 17, ll. 11-25. When Deputy Strickland arrived at the address to serve Appellant, a man and woman, neither of whom were Appellant, opened the door. The man and woman informed Deputy Strickland that they had just moved into the apartment unit, and Appellant no longer lived there. The property manager told Deputy Strickland that Appellant had never been on the lease for the unit and that the woman who had previously leased the unit no longer lived there. R. 18, ll. 4-14.

The last witness the State called was Nicholas Alter, an employee of the Horry County Clerk of Court. R. 22, l. 20-R. 23, l. 19. Alter authenticated the bond paperwork that Appellant filled out prior to his release from jail. R. 105. Alter testified that Appellant had signed and initialed the paperwork. He further read two sections of the bond paperwork that generally advised a defendant of the right and obligation to be present at trial and that trial could proceed in his absence if he failed to attend. R. 24, l. 8-R. 25, l. 18. Alter further testified that the bond paperwork commanded Appellant to appear at the February 28, 2020, term of the Court of General Sessions. R. 27, ll. 8-18. No where on the bond paperwork was August 10-14, 2020, listed as a trial date. R. 27, l. 19-R. 28, l. 8.

The State argued that it had presented evidence that Appellant had notice that he was to appear in court for his trial. The State further argued that Appellant's charge of failure to register, second offense, was indicative of Appellant's propensity to receive notice of a legal duty and then continually fail to meet that duty. R. 31, l. 14-R. 32, l. 4. The court interjected to ask what the legal standard was in situations where "you have a defendant who does not have actual notice that their trial is being called this week, but it's because they haven't maintained and done what they were supposed to do?" R. 32, ll. 5-15. The State responded that the case of State v. Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 646 S.E.2d 445 (Ct. App. 2007), instructed that intentional

misconduct by the defendant to avoid the judicial process was waiver by misconduct, and that it applied to Appellant's case. R. 32, l. 16-R. 33, l. 10.

The court noted that Appellant's case was not like Fairey, in that Appellant had not given multiple addresses to avoid service. The State responded that Appellant had given a false address and had never lived at the address he had provided. The court clarified that the testimony was that Appellant had not been on the lease of the apartment, not that he had never lived at that address. The court asked, "is this a guy trying to avoid service or is this somebody who moved, didn't provide a forwarding address, and he can't be found, but at the time he filled out the paperwork it was not misconduct." The State then conceded that they did not know if Appellant had lived at that address. The State continued to argue that Appellant was on trial for a notification crime and that the court could consider that charge as evidence of a willful intentional effort by Appellate to avoid the judicial system. R. 33, l. 12-R. 36, l. 17.

Counsel Galmore responded that a bench warrant was the proper remedy in the that situation. He stated there was no indication that Appellant was intentionally attempting to avoid service, and the State was asking the court to assume Appellant's conduct was intentional. R. 36, ll. 21-25. Counsel Galmore further argued that pursuant to State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 692 S.E.2d 554 (Ct. App. 2010) the court had to find that Appellant had received notice of the trial date and was aware that he would be tried in his absence. He noted that in Ravenell, the Court of Appeals stated that the bond paperwork given to a defendant may serve as the requisite warning that a defendant can be tried in their absence. However, there were other steps that had been taken in Ravenell to show the defendant was aware his trial date and of the potential for trial *in absentia* and that those other steps had not been taken in Appellant's case. R. 37, l. 4-R. 38, l. 6.

After a brief recess the court issued its ruling stating,

All right. I've reviewed the caselaw and I think, *by virtue of the fact that he signed the bond questionnaire, that's – it says that's adequate notice that he can be tried in his absence if he doesn't appear.* He provided them with the address, he provided a change of address that had the same address. Therefore, I think that is where he was telling them that – where you can notify me of the trial. *He changes the address without giving another forwarding address, and that's a voluntary wavier.* So, I'm gonna say you can go ahead and try him in his absence. I deny the motion for continuance.

...

All right. I find that *the state has satisfied the notice requirements, notified the defendant of the date and term of his trial, as well as that he would be tried in his absence. I acknowledge he doesn't have actual notice but that's due to his own actions. And as I understand the caselaw, if his -- and I'll term it misconduct is what causes the failure to receive notice and that constitutes a waiver of his -- he's waiving his right to be present.* We have the bond questionnaire that said you'll be tried in your absence. We've got him providing the address. We've got him providing the change of address. We've got them sending it to that address; and he's just not there. He never provided – I don't know whether he ever lived there or if he didn't live there, but the fact of the matter is he didn't live there when the notice was sent out and there was nothing to notify them that there was a change of address. And as I read the Fairey case, *that's a little bit more intent to deceive in the Fairey case, but the fact of the matter is, is in the Fairey case where he gave a change of address and it was the different address, there was an intent on his part to avoid it. Here, I'm not saying there was an attempt, but he certainly gave an address that was not accurate at the time that they ---* I'm gonna allow the trial in his absence to go forward.

R. 39, ll. 6-14.; R. 40, l. 4-R. 41, l. 1 (emphasis added).

At the close of the case, the court charged the jury that a defendant may be tried in his absence, but the fact that the defendant was not present at trial may not be considered against the defendant. R. 124, ll. 22-25.

Discussion

There is nothing in the record that supports the contention that Appellant had actual notice of his trial date and voluntarily waived his presence. The trial court even acknowledged that Appellant did not have actual notice of the trial date but stated that his “misconduct” amounted to wavier of his constitutional right to be present at his trial. There was no evidence of

misconduct on the part of Appellant that would justify waiver of such an important right. The trial court incorrectly allowed the case to proceed *in absentia*.

“It is well established that, although the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees the right of an accused to be present at every stage of his trial, this right may be waived, and a defendant may be tried in his absence.” State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 455, 692 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2010). However, “courts indulge *every reasonable presumption against waiver* of fundamental constitutional rights and ... *do not presume acquiescence* in the loss of fundamental rights.” Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938) (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added). Courts have recognized that a “wavier is ordinarily an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege.” Id.

In determining whether there has been a valid, intelligent wavier of a constitutionally guaranteed right, courts consider the “particular facts and circumstances surrounding the case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused.” Id. Importantly, “[a] defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of a . . . constitutional right *must be established by a complete record*; and may be accomplished by colloquy between the court and the defendant, between the court and defendant's counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993) (emphasis added).

Before a defendant may be tried *in absentia*, the trial court must first determine that the defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present as his trial. Additionally, “[t]he judge must make findings of fact on the record that the defendant (1) received notice of his right to be present and (2) was warned he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend.” State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 535, 808 S.E.2d 821 (Ct. App. 2017). The trial court’s duty to determine a

voluntary waiver of the right to be present is also contained in Rule 16 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure:

Except in cases wherein capital punishment is a permissible sentence, a person indicted for misdemeanors and/or felonies may voluntarily waive his right to be present and may be tried in his absence upon a finding by the court that such person has received notice of his right to be present and that a warning was given that the trial would proceed in his absence upon a failure to attend the court.

The appellate courts of this State have addressed the propriety of trials *in absentia* in numerous cases throughout the years. In Ellis v. State, 267 S.C. 257, 258, 227 S.E.2d 304 (1976), the defendant was tried in his absence on the misdemeanor charge of unlawful distribution of marijuana. The defendant had appeared at the county courthouse at the beginning of the jury trial term but was not present later in the term when his case was called for trial. At his PCR hearing, defendant testified that he knew he was required to be present at his trial, and that he had been present at the courthouse prior to the start of the trial. He testified that he deliberately left the State before his trial began because he did not want to face the presiding judge who was known for handing down harsh sentences. Id. at 258-59, 227 S.E.2d at 305

On appeal from the denial of his PCR application, the defendant argued that “his right to be present was violated because he was not aware that he could be tried in his absence and did not know the specific date of his trial.” Id. at 259, 227 S.E.2d at 305. Our Supreme Court held that notice of the term of court during which a case will be tried, even if the defendant does not know the exact date of the trial, is sufficient notice to enable a defendant to make an effective waiver of his right to be present at trial. Our Supreme Court reasoned that Appellant admitted to knowing which term of court his case was scheduled to be tried during before he left the State. In finding that the defendant had voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial, this Court wrote “[t]he deliberate absence of a defendant who knows that he stands accused in a criminal

case and that his trial will begin during a specific period of time indicates nothing less than an intention to obstruct the orderly process of justice.” Id. at 261, S.E.2d at 306.

In City of Aiken v. David Michael Koontz, 368 S.C. 542, 544-45, 629 S.E.2d 686, 687 (Ct. App. 2006), the defendant was charged by a Uniform Traffic Ticket (UTT) with driving under suspension, third offense, on May 8, 2004. The UTT set a trial date of June 28, 2004, in the Aiken City Municipal court. Id. Prior to the trial date, the defendant hired private counsel. Upon being hired, counsel requested a jury trial on behalf of the defendant and requested that notice of all court dates be sent to him. The municipal court continued the case from the original June date and informed counsel that the defendant would be tried during either the August 3, September 21, or October 19, 2004, municipal court jury term. Id. at 545, 629 S.E.2d at 687-88.

The case was eventually called to trial during the October 19, 2004, jury term. At the start of that term of court, counsel for the defendant moved to be relieved, citing the defendant’s failure to maintain communication, pay his fees, and assist in preparing the defense of the case as reasons to terminate the representation. In moving to be relieved, counsel for the defendant specifically stated that he mailed the defendant notice of his trial date at the address defendant had provided him but had not received a response. The municipal court relieved counsel and proceeded to try the defendant in his absence. Id., 629 S.E.2d at 688.

On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court erred in trying him in his absence when it did not make factual findings concerning whether he had received notice of the trial date and whether he had in fact waived his right to be present for trial. Id. at 546, 629 S.E.2d at 688. This Court, relying on established precedent, wrote “[n]otice of the term of court for which the trial is set constitutes sufficient notice to enable a criminal defendant to make an effective waiver of his right to be present. If the record, however, does not include evidence to support a finding

that the defendant was afforded notice of his trial, the resulting conviction cannot stand.” Id. at 547, 629 S.E.2d at 689 (internal citations omitted).

This Court cited to the defendant’s bond form and the “Checklist for Magistrates and Municipal judges” as evidence that the defendant was informed of his obligation to be present at trial and that trial would proceed in his absence should he fail to appear. Id. at 547-548, 629 S.E.2d at 689. Further, counsel for the defendant had definitively informed the court that the defendant was aware of the October court term and knew that he was required to appear. Id. at 548, 629 S.E.2d at 689. Based on these factual assertions, this Court held that the record was “replete” with evidence that the defendant had notice of his court date and that his failure to appear meant he could be tried in his absence. This Court found the lower court fully complied with the mandates of Rule 16, SCRCrimP, and correctly proceed to try the defendant in his absence. Id. at 548-549, 629 S.E.2d at 689-690.

In arguing that it was proper to try Appellant in his absence, the State relied heavily on State v. Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 646 S.E.2d 445 (Ct. App. 2007). Fairey was arrested in January 1998 and charged with obtaining goods and monies under false pretenses. Id. at 96, 646 S.E.2d at 446. Fairey signed a bond sheet wherein it indicated that he understood a trial would proceed in his absence if he failed to appear. In July 1998, notice was sent to Fairey’s attorney that the charge had been dismissed. Id. In June 2001, the State directly indicted Fairey on the original 1998 charge. A year later, counsel for Fairey moved to be relieved, citing to substantial disagreement with Fairey regarding trial strategy, Fairey’s failure to pay his fees, and Fairey’s desire to proceed *pro se* as reasons to terminate his representation. The court granted the motion to be relieved in an order dated July 23, 2002. Id. In the order, the court specifically instructed Fairey that he was responsible for keeping the court informed as to where papers should be

served, that he had the obligation to retain counsel and if he did not retain counsel, he had the responsibility to prepare for his trial as a *pro se* litigant. Id. at 96, 646 S.E.2d at 447.

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