RECEIVED

Mar 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

**Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge**

Appellate Case No. 2022-000112

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TERBIAS JERROD GOFF,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General**

**Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727**

**JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit**

**1301 2nd Avenue
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Goff, by conduct, waived his right to be present at his trial.

Goff alleges the trial court erroneously allowed his trial to proceed in his absence. Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Goff, by conduct, waived his right to presence. This Court should affirm.

Criminal defendants have a right to be present at their trial. This "right of presence" is rooted in the English common law, and is encompassed in the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation. United States v. Gregorio, 497 F.2d 1253, 1257–59 (4th Cir. 1974); Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 342 (1970). However, the right can be waived by a defendant's voluntary absence. Taylor v. United States, 414 U.S. 17, 20 (1973); Ellis v. State, 267 S.C. 257, 260, 227 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1976). A trial judge must determine a defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial in order to try the case in absentia. City of Aiken v. Koontz, 368 S.C. 542, 547, 629 S.E.2d 686, 689 (Ct. App. 2006).

The circumstances in which a trial court may find that a defendant has waived his right of presence are codified in Rule 16 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure. The rule provides:

Except in cases wherein capital punishment is a permissible sentence, a person indicted for misdemeanors and/or felonies may voluntarily waive his right to be present and may be tried in his absence upon a finding by the court that such person has received notice of his right to be present and that a warning was given that the trial would proceed in his absence upon a failure to attend the court.

Rule 16, SCRCrimP. The trial court must make these specific findings on the record. Koontz, 368 S.C. at 547, 629 S.E.2d at 689. Because the findings required by Rule 16 are factual in nature, this Court must affirm the trial court's findings if there is **any evidence** in the record to support them. State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 253, 781 S.E.2d 897, 901 (2016); State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 537, 808 S.E.2d 821, 824 (Ct. App. 2017).

The trial court in this case made the findings required by Rule 16. Cf. State v. Wrapp, 421 S.C. 531, 536, 808 S.E.2d 821, 823 (Ct. App. 2017) ("We hold the circuit court erred in trying Wrapp in absentia without making specific findings" required by Rule 16). The Court specifically found "the State satisfied the notice requirements, notified the defendant of the date and term of his trial, as well as he would be tried in his absence." (R.p.37). The court referenced the bond form which informed Goff that he had the right to be present and that trial would proceed in his absence if he did not appear. (R.p.21, 37, 107). The trial court explained Goff waived his right to presence by virtue of his "misconduct" because Goff failed to keep in contact with his attorney, failed to show up for court, and failed to provide the court with an accurate mailing address. (R.p.37).

Underlying the trial court's findings is Goff's history of willfully failing to appear before lawful authority. Goff had already been convicted of failing to register as a sex offender, an offense that in itself shows his disregard for lawful authority and a past willful failure to appear as required by law. See State v. Roberson, 382 S.C. 185, 188, 675 S.E.2d 732, 733 (2009) (overruled on other grounds

by Osbey v. State, 425 S.C. 615, 825 S.E.2d 48 (2019)) ("We find that **given Respondent's criminal history, his disregard for the instructions of the court, and his inexcusable absence from trial, a waiver by conduct of the right to counsel is inferable.**") (emphasis added). Furthermore, Goff had the opportunity to explain his absence when his sentence was unsealed, but offered no explanation. (R.p.93). See Fermin v. State, 975 P.2d 61, 67 (Alaska Ct. App. 1999) ("Fermin has failed to offer any exonerating explanation of why he left the State of Alaska, why he failed to return, and why he failed to maintain contact with his attorney or the court system. He therefore has failed to show that Judge Andrews committed error when she held the renewed suppression hearing without him."). Thus, the record refutes Goff's assertion that there was "no evidence of misconduct on the part of Appellant" to justify the trial court's finding that he waived his right of presence. Brief of Appellant at 9.

Without citation to the record or any authority, Goff asserts the State failed to "properly address the subpoena." Brief of Appellant at 17. Goff claims that the fact that the subpoena was returned as "undeliverable" means that "the address placed on the envelope by the solicitor's office was either incorrect, incomplete, or illegible," and this "cannot be imputed to Appellant." Brief of Appellant at 17. This assertion is not supported by any evidence in the record. The only evidence in the record is that the solicitor's office mailed the subpoena to the address Goff provided.

Goff argues "[t]here is nothing in the record that supports the contention that Appellant had actual notice of his trial date and voluntarily waived his presence."

Brief of Appellant at 9. Goff correctly notes that the trial court acknowledged there was no evidence that Goff had "actual notice" of his trial date. However, Goff incorrectly argues that a defendant must have actual notice of his trial date in order to waive his right to presence.

The Sixth Amendment does not require that a defendant have actual notice of his trial date in order to waive his right to presence. United States v. Mera, 921 F.2d 18, 20–21 (2d Cir. 1990). Likewise, Rule 16, by its terms, does not require that a defendant have actual notice of his trial date. Rather, the rule requires only that the defendant (1) received notice of his right to be present; and (2) was warned that the trial would proceed in his absence should he fail to attend. Koontz, 368 S.C. at 547, 629 S.E.2d at 689.

"Although the waiver of a constitutional right must be 'knowing' and 'voluntary,' a defendant's **intentional absence** from criminal proceedings, when he is aware that he is the subject of such proceedings, may be tantamount to a voluntary waiver of his right to be present at trial." United States v. Mera, 921 F.2d 18, 20 (2d Cir. 1990) (emphasis added). This is true even if the defendant does not have actual knowledge of his trial date. "[A]n accused who **does not know of and fails to appear at** a proceeding against him may be found to have waived his right to be present there if the record [demonstrates that] criminal proceedings commenced in his presence, that he absconded knowing of his right to attend future proceedings, and that his disappearance has made it impossible to contact him with reference to these [later] proceedings." Fermin v. State, 975 P.2d 61, 66 (Alaska Ct.

App. 1999) (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Cook, 115 Ariz. 146, 149, 564 P.2d 97, 100 (Ct. App. 1977), supplemented, 118 Ariz. 154, 575 P.2d 353 (Ct. App. 1978), and overruled on other grounds by State v. Fettis, 136 Ariz. 58, 664 P.2d 208 (1983)). Thus, a defendant may, by conduct, waive his right to presence by purposefully avoiding actual notice of his trial date.

The Second Circuit Court of Appeals explained the basis for this rule in United States v. Mera, 921 F.2d 18, 20 (2d Cir. 1990). In that case, the defendant was charged with drug crimes, arraigned, and remanded into custody. Mera, 921 F.2d at 19. Following a bond reduction hearing, Mera was accidentally released from custody and fled the country. Id. Even though a tentative trial date had been set, Mera's attorney told the court Mera was not aware of the date, but Mera's mother-in-law testified that she heard Mera discussing the trial date with a co-defendant. Id. The trial court found Mera had notice of the trial date, but held in the alternative that Mera's trial could proceed in his absence, regardless of whether Mera had actual knowledge of the date. Mera, 921 F.2d at 19–20.

The court affirmed the trial court's finding "that appellant's waiver was knowing and voluntary regardless of whether appellant knew the trial date" Mera, 921 F.2d at 20. Citing the precedent of United States v. Tortora, 464 F.2d 1202, the court explained:

Although Tortora factored the defendant's actual knowledge of the trial date into its finding that the defendant had waived his right to be present at trial . . . such knowledge was not a prerequisite for the court's ruling. While a defendant cannot knowingly waive his right to be present at trial unless he has notice of the proceedings against him, Tortora and its progeny establish that a defendant gains such

knowledge from pleading to the charges at arraignment. We reject appellant's reading of Tortora because knowledge of the trial date does not provide meaningful notice as to the nature of the proceedings against the defendant beyond the notice that the defendant gains at arraignment. **Appellant's interpretation therefore undercuts the rationale of Tortora by allowing a defendant who, by chance or plan, is ignorant of the trial date to determine unilaterally when, or indeed if, he will stand trial.**

Mera, 921 F.2d 18, 20–21 (2d Cir. 1990) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also Fermin v. State, 975 P.2d 61, 65 (Alaska Ct. App. 1999) ("The question is whether Fermin knowingly stayed away from the remand hearing. Obviously, if Fermin knew of the remand hearing and the date it was to occur, it would be easier to prove that he was knowingly absent from that hearing. But courts have found knowing waivers of the right to be present **even when an absconding defendant did not know for certain that a particular judicial proceeding would be held.**") (emphasis added). These cases establish that a defendant may knowingly waive his right to presence by intentionally avoiding the State's attempts to give him actual notice of his trial date.

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals came to the same conclusion in Brewer v. Raines, 670 F.2d 117 (9th Cir. 1982). Citing the United States Supreme Court's decision in Diaz v. United States, 223 U.S. 442 (1912), the court rejected the argument that ignorance of a trial date precludes a waiver finding. The court explained:

The record shows that the petitioner was informed of his original trial date and that his trial could be held in absentia if he voluntarily failed to appear. This notice was sufficient to evoke a knowledgeable waiver of petitioner's right to be present. Brewer's failure to know of the continued dates of his trial and his date of sentencing is directly attributable to his

failure to keep in contact with the court and his attorney. A defendant cannot be allowed to keep himself deliberately ignorant and then complain about his lack of knowledge.

Brewer, 670 F.2d at 119 (emphasis added).

The same result was reached in State v. Goode, 299 S.C. 479, 385 S.E.2d 844 (1989), although Goode conceded the issue on appeal. In that case, Goode was arrested for breaking into motor vehicles and informed via his bond paperwork that he had the had the right to presence at his trial and that he could be tried in his absence if he did not appear. Goode, 299 S.C. at 480, 385 S.E.2d at 845. Goode failed to appear for his initial court date, and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest. A grand jury subsequently indicted him for both breaking into motor vehicles and grand larceny. Goode, 299 S.C. at 481, 385 S.E.2d at 845. Goode was tried in his absence six months after the court date for which he was summoned, meaning he did not have actual notice of the trial date. Goode, 299 S.C. at 481, 385 S.E.2d at 845. He was convicted of both crimes.

Goode challenged both of his convictions on appeal. The Supreme Court held Good's right to presence was violated when he was tried for grand larceny, a charge for which he had never been given notice, and for which he had not been arrested or arraigned. Goode, 299 S.C. at 482, 385 S.E.2d at 846. However, Goode conceded that notice was sufficient for his breaking into motor vehicles charge, the charge for which he had originally been arrested. The Supreme Court noted that Goode received notice of his right to presence for his trial on that charge via his bond paperwork, and the opinion strongly suggests the court believed his right to

presence was not violated as to that charge even though Goode did not have actual notice of his trial date. Goode, 299 S.C. at 482, 385 S.E.2d at 846 ("The bond form only provided Goode with notice of the charge for breaking into a motor vehicle and that he would be tried in his absence if he failed to appear for his trial on that particular charge. This does not suffice as adequate notice for Goode's trial of a separate crime, grand larceny, where Goode had no warning that he faced prosecution for that offense.").

In State v. Johnson, 213 S.C. 241, 49 S.E.2d 6 (1948) (overruled on other grounds by State v. Jackson, 301 S.C. 49, 389 S.E.2d 654 (1990)), the Supreme Court explained the duty of criminal defendants to appear at subsequent terms of court if their case is not disposed of at the term for which they are originally summoned. Johnson was tried in his absence, even though his attorney apparently had not informed him of that term of court. Johnson, 213 S.C. at 244, 49 S.E.2d at 7. The court affirmed the denial of Johnson's motion for a new trial, explaining:

If a defendant who is recognized to appear at the next ensuing term of Court was under no further duty to appear after the first term of Court if fortuitously his case was not reached at such first term, a chaotic condition of the enforcement of the criminal laws would forthwith result as respects a great number of cases. No notice to defendants or their counsel is necessary but it is their duty to attend all terms of Court in which they are interested, they having statutory notice of the time of the holding of such Courts.

Id. Even though the Johnson court did not engage in the type of waiver analysis now required by Rule 16, it demonstrates that "actual notice" has not historically been required by South Carolina courts in order to proceed with trial in absentia. See also State v. Cain, 277 S.C. 210, 210, 284 S.E.2d 779, 779 (1981) (per curiam)

(finding waiver of the right to counsel by conduct and explaining "appellant was released on a general appearance bond and was represented by counsel at a preliminary hearing. Both the appellant and his attorney knew the case was coming up for trial. The appellant knew he had a duty to stay in touch with his attorney and with the court").

In other cases, South Carolina appellate courts have affirmed the rationale for the rule enunciated in Mera, Brewer, and Fermin. For example, in State v. Holloway the Supreme Court explained:

A person charged with crime is required to appear at the time set for trial, and he can not be permitted to absent himself for any reason which he chooses. . . . Certainly, prejudice to the State appears when a defendant, without excuse, fails to appear at the time set for trial, thereby obstructing and delaying the orderly administration of justice.

State v. Holloway, 262 S.C. 552, 557, 206 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1974). In Ellis v. State, the Supreme Court wrote:

The deliberate absence of a defendant who knows that he stands accused in a criminal case and that his trial will begin during a specific period of time indicates nothing less than an intention to obstruct the orderly processes of justice. No defendant has a unilateral right to set the time or circumstances under which he will be tried. The public interest demands that criminal prosecutions be prosecuted with dispatch.

Ellis v. State, 267 S.C. 257, 261, 227 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1976).

At the trial of this case, the State relied on State v. Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 646 S.E.2d 445 (Ct. App. 2007). Although the case does not present identical facts, it is instructive. In that case, Fairey failed to communicate with or pay his attorney, and his attorney was relieved as counsel. As a pro se defendant, he gave multiple addresses at which the court could reach him to inform him of his trial date. The

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